RECEIVED

Sep 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County

Honorable Marvin H Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRYL JEROME WASHINGTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000433

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in precluding appellant from cross-examining the Complainant's mother under Rule 403, SCRE, about her own statements to a therapist regarding Complainant lying about bringing guns to school?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 11, 2017, a Colleton County grand jury indicted appellant Darryl Washington for first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 133. On February 26, 2025, Washington was tried before the Honorable Marvin Dukes and a jury. R. 1. Lynorr Musser represented the State. R. 1. Nicholas Kanaly represented Washington. R. 1. The jury convicted Washington. R. 125. Judge Dukes sentenced Washington to thirty years' imprisonment. R. 131. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The evidentiary issue in this appeal is governed by the abuse of discretion standard. State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 420, 891 S.E.2d 508, 511 (2023) (reversing because of improper Rule 403, SCRE analysis).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in precluding appellant from cross-examining the Complainant's mother under Rule 403, SCRE, about her own statements to a therapist regarding Complainant lying about bringing guns to school.

Appellant Darryl Washington testified in his own defense and denied sexually abusing Complainant. R. 83. The solicitor told the jury in her closing argument that the case “boils down to credibility” and that it had to judge the credibility of Complainant as they saw him in his forensic interview at eight years old and again testifying at sixteen years old “versus the defendant.” R. 97-98. No physical evidence existed and no witnesses to the alleged abuse testified.

The State's first witness was the investigating officer, Kelly Padgett. R. 16. Her direct-examination was brief. Padgett took the sexual abuse call and spoke with Complainant's mother. R. 17. Complainant was eight years old at the time of the call. R. 17. Officer Padgett set up a forensic interview and arrested Washington afterwards. R. 18-19. On cross-examination, Officer Padgett admitted that “an event spurred that call. R. 20. Defense counsel then asked, “Okay. Now [Complainant], he was caught in bed with his cousin naked, correct?” R. 20. Officer Padgett answered, “That's my understanding.” R. 20. Defense counsel's next question about the details of what Complainant and his cousin were doing drew an objection which Judge Dukes sustained. R. 20.

Complainant's mother testified that Washington was her cousin and she considered his parents her aunt and uncle. R. 24. Washington lived with his parents. R. 24. Complainant's mother worked and her aunt and uncle would sometimes watch Complainant during the summer.

R. 24-25. She testified that in 2016, Complainant disclosed sexual abuse that happened during the summer at Washington's house. R. 25.

Complainant was sixteen years old when he testified about the abuse that allegedly occurred when he was eight years old. R. 37-38. Complainant confirmed that he sometimes stayed at his aunt and uncle's house where Washington lived. R. 39-40. Complainant described two instances of abuse. He said Washington would fondle his genitals and perform oral sex on him in Washington's room. R. 41-42. Complainant also recalled another instance when he was in the bathroom and Complainant pulled his pants down and performed oral sex on him. R. 42. During the encounter in the bathroom, Washington's mother supposedly saw them in the bathroom together and questioned if they should be in there. R. 42-43. Complainant did not tell his aunt about what he testified happened in the bathroom despite her inquiry. R. 43.

On cross-examination, Complainant admitted that he had been suspended from school "from time to time." R. 44. When he broke rules and got in trouble, he would be beaten with a belt sometimes so severely that he would cry. R. 45. Complainant's forensic interview was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. R. 58. (State's Ex. 1). During the interview, Complainant said multiple adults administered beatings with a belt or a shoe, sometimes to his face. (State's Ex. 1, 5:45). After identifying the parts of the body on a sketch, Complainant told the interviewer that Washington touched his "private part" and put his mouth on it. (State's Ex. 1, 12:19).

When Complainant described the incident in the bathroom in more detail, he said Washington only touched his genitals with his hand and did not use any other body part. (State's Ex. 1, 16:10). Contradicting his testimony, Complainant said he told about the abuse and Washington got in trouble. (State's Ex. 1, 16:27). Washington only touched him one time.

(State's Ex. 1, 17:48). The interviewer left the room for a minute and Complainant drew on the easel. (State's Ex. 1, 21:15). When the interviewer returned, she asked him what he drew and he said he drew Washington touching his "private part." (State's Ex. 1, 23:23). The interviewer said Complainant had previously told her that Washington used his mouth on his private part and when asked to describe this, Complainant said Washington "licked it." (State's Ex. 1, 24:00).

The Attempted Impeachment Evidence

During his cross-examination of Complainant's mother, defense counsel confirmed that Complainant would stay at his aunt and uncle's house when he got suspended from school and that Complainant had behavioral problems at school. R. 27. Complainant's mother then said Complainant did not get suspended from school often. R. 27. Defense counsel then asked whether Complainant's mother sent him to therapy because of his behavior problems and the State objected on relevance. R. 27. Judge Dukes excused the jury and heard argument from the parties. R. 27-34.

Defense counsel proffered that Complainant's mother told the mental health facility that her son claimed "he had guns in his backpack, claiming he was going to shoot everyone." R. 28. He argued this question was relevant to Complainant's character and truthfulness and also to the credibility of Complainant's mother. R. 28. The State argued that the question was not relevant and was more prejudicial than probative. R. 28-29. The State also argued that it was a prior bad act. R. 28-29. Defense counsel responded that he was not attempting to introduce the evidence as a prior bad act, but to Complainant's mother's "credibility and the alleged victim's credibility." R. 29.

The State then argued that bringing guns to school was "overly prejudicial" because of school shootings and that it was not relevant. R. 29-30. The solicitor referenced Rule 405,

SCRE, and argued character evidence was not admissible unless first placed in issue. R. 29-30. Defense counsel responded that he was not trying to use the fact of bringing guns in a backpack, but that Complainant said this and it was not true. R. 30-31. The State then responded that it was hearsay and defense counsel replied that he was not offering it for the truth of the matter asserted. R. 31.

Judge Dukes ruled that “talking about guns and backpacks, the prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value.” R. 31-34. He allowed defense counsel to ask Complainant’s mother whether Complainant had ever lied to her. R. 31-34. Defense counsel restated his argument that Complainant’s lie about the guns was “a documented incident. It’s a document[ed] incident of the victim having no regard for anyone at the school and the consequences of this action, Your Honor,” and that it showed Complainant had a “propensity for lying.” R. 33. Judge Dukes reiterated his ruling, stating, “But again, I think it’s highly prejudicial. I think it substantially outweighs the prejudice, substantially outweighs the probative value.” R. 33-34. The judge gave an example that if it were “kittens in the backpack,” it might be admissible, but guns at school was “highly prejudicial.” R. 33-34.

When the jury returned, trial counsel confirmed that Complainant would be punished with beatings with a belt. R. 34. The mother answered that Complainant had lied to her “a few times” and that he had lied at school. R. 35. She agreed Complainant went to therapy for these problems, and also for hitting kids at school. R. 35-36.

*The Trial Court Erred in Using Rule 403 to Bar Important Evidence Regarding Complainant's
Credibility*

The probative value of the evidence was not just that Complainant would lie, but that he was willing to lie about something with such severe legal consequences such as bringing guns to school. If the Complainant was willing to lie about something that severe, it showed he would also be willing to lie about sexual abuse. The trial court's Rule 403, SCRE analysis on this point was deeply flawed and cannot be harmless when credibility was the major factual issue for the jury.

"Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE. The court must first decide the probative value of the evidence. State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609-19, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165-70 (Ct. App. 2014). "'Probative value' is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues." Id.

The probative value of evidence of Complainant's willingness to lie about matters of great import was of immense probative value. The judge's example about the kittens in the backpack demonstrates the error in assessing probative value. Lying about kittens in a backpack would have little probative value as it is of an inconsequential matter. But lying about bringing guns to school in a backpack shows, as defense counsel argued, a lie without "regard for anyone at the school and the consequences of this action. . . ." R. 33.

As for prejudice, the key component is whether evidence is *unfairly* prejudicial. State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995). Unfair prejudice is usually found

when evidence is introduced to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as emotion. Id. All relevant evidence is prejudicial to some degree, it is the amount of unfair prejudice that must be scrutinized by the trial judge. Gray at 616-17, 759 S.E.2d at 168.

The unfair prejudice is almost zero. The judge correctly stated that bringing guns to school in a backpack is an emotional issue. Few things are so horrifying and emotionally charged as school shootings. But the topic of school shootings was not the point—Complainant’s credibility was the point. Credibility was the central issue and the magnitude of the lie bore specifically on its *fair* prejudicial value, not an *unfair* tying of Complainant to school shootings. The precise reason the evidence had such a high probative value is what makes the prejudice not unfair. Little chance existed that the jury would issue a not guilty verdict because they thought Complainant was a potential school shooter. But a substantial probability existed that the jury would exonerate Washington if they believed Complainant was willing to lie about very important matters.

The fact that the jury heard that Complainant would tell lies in a general sense does not make this error harmless. First, this child sexual abuse case had no physical evidence and no eyewitnesses. Complainant testified he was abused. Washington took the stand and denied abusing Complainant. This case was a classic credibility contest and, because this error directly affected Complainant’s credibility, it cannot be harmless. See State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016) (discussing the difficulty of finding harmless error in sexual abuse cases that are credibility contests).

Second, the specifics of Complainant’s lie would have tipped the scales when the jury weighed his credibility. The jury heard from the investigating officer that Complainant made the abuse allegation when he was caught in a sexual situation. R. 20. The consequences for getting

in trouble were severe beatings with a belt. Complainant denied making the allegation when he was “accused of doing the same thing.” R. 63. Complainant said in his forensic interview that he reported the incident in the bathroom, but when he testified he admitted he did not.

Washington testified that Complainant held a grudge against him because Washington caught him watching pornography on a computer and his grandmother beat him with a belt. R. 78. During its deliberations, the jury wanted to know the sentence for the charge and to have Complainant’s testimony replayed. R. 122. Without the trial court’s error, the jury would have acquitted Washington and this Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's conviction and remand for a new trial.



David Alexander
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT