RECEIVED

Aug 26 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County
Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2025-000433

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DARRYL JEROME WASHINGTON,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by preventing defense counsel from—for the identified purpose of attacking the minor victim’s credibility and character and demonstrating the minor victim had a propensity to lie—cross-examining the minor victim’s mother about an out-of-court statement she allegedly made to an unnamed therapist at some unspecified point in time regarding a different out-of-court statement that was purportedly made by the minor victim at another unspecified point to an unidentified individual through which the minor victim allegedly made a false claim he had brought guns to school in a backpack because that testimony: (1) had minimal probative value at best; (2) carried a high potential of unfair prejudice that substantially outweighed any probative value it could have possessed; and (3) was not properly admissible under any legitimate theory of admissibility.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by refusing to allow defense counsel to cross-examine Victim’s mother—and *not* Victim himself—about a purported out-of-court statement she made to a therapist concerning Victim lying to someone at some unspecified point about bringing guns to school. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains evidence establishing Victim was willing to lie “about something with such severe legal consequences as bringing guns to school” demonstrated Victim “would also be willing to lie about sexual abuse.” (App. Br. p. 8). Thus, in essence, Appellant’s appellate argument amounts to an assertion that evidence from Victim’s mother establishing Victim supposedly told some unrelated lie on a prior occasion in the past should have been admitted as evidence Victim had a propensity to lie and, therefore, acted in conformity with that propensity by falsely accusing Appellant of sexual abuse. Meanwhile, in making such a contention, Appellant tellingly does not even attempt to identify a basis upon which Victim’s—or any witness’s—credibility could properly and permissibly be impeached in such a manner and, instead of doing so, simply declares the evidence regarding Victim’s alleged past lie was somehow “of immense probative value.” (App. Br. p. 8). Appellant is wrong, and the trial judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by placing reasonable limits on the scope of cross-examination and refusing to allow the patently-

inadmissible evidence defense counsel sought to elicit during trial. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

“All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, [South Carolina's evidentiary] rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina.” Rule 402, SCRE; see Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410 (1988) (“The accused does not have an unfettered right to offer testimony that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence.”). “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (“ ‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”).

However, even if relevant, evidence must be excluded from trial if its probative value is substantially outweighed by—amongst other things—a danger of unfair prejudice or confusion of the issues. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see Rule 403, SCRE (“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”); see also New Oxford American Dictionary 1736 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “substantially” as “to a great or significant extent”). The determination of the probative value of evidence relative to its potential prejudicial effect must be based on the entire record and the

result generally hinges on the facts of each case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007).

Probative value is the measure of the importance of a piece of evidence's tendency to prove or disprove some fact or issue relevant to the outcome of a case. State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012), rev'd on other grounds, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). Meanwhile, unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); see Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 181 (1997) ("The term 'unfair prejudice,' as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged."). However, unfair prejudice does *not* mean damage that results from the legitimate probative force of a piece of evidence. State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998). Significantly, it is only unfair prejudice that must be avoided. Id.

When ruling on the comparative probative value and potential prejudicial effect of evidence, trial judges have "particularly wide discretion[.]" Collins, 398 S.C. at 209, 727 S.E.2d at 757. As a result, a trial judge's ruling on such a matter should be afforded great deference on appeal and should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 339-340, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly, "[a] trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593-594 (Ct. App. 2001), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry,

363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 594.

With those principles in mind, Appellant sought in the case sub judice to impeach Victim’s credibility, attack Victim’s character, and prove Victim had a propensity to lie by eliciting testimony from Mother about an out-of-court statement she allegedly made to an unnamed therapist on an unknown date regarding a specific out-of-court statement that was purportedly made by Victim at an unspecified point in time to an unspecified individual through which Victim falsely claimed to have brought guns to school in a backpack. Notwithstanding the fact many of the key substantive details surrounding both Mother’s and Victim’s alleged out-of-court statements remain unclear and unknown,⁹ the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by concluding whatever probative value that testimony may have possessed was substantially outweighed by its potential for unfair prejudice in light of the *other* cross-examination that was permitted.

⁹ Because it is not fully clear precisely what testimony defense counsel actually would have been able to elicit from Mother during trial, it is highly questionable whether Appellant’s current issue with that testimony’s exclusion was properly preserved for appellate review. See State v. Cabbagestalk, 281 S.C. 35, 36, 314 S.E.2d 10, 11 (1984) (“Failure to make an offer of proof precludes the appellant from raising the issue on appeal.”); State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979) (“It is well settled that a reviewing court may not consider error alleged in exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the rejected testimony would have been.”); State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 163, 634 S.E.2d 23, 29 (Ct. App. 2006) (“[A] proffer of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony was properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not consider error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the excluded testimony would have been.”); see also Whitfield v. Schimpf, 444 S.C. 633, 648, 911 S.E.2d 310, 318 (2025) (“There certainly are instances in which an actual proffer of testimony is necessary to adequately convey to the trial court ‘the substance of the evidence.’ ”); cf. State v. Simmons, 360 S.C. 33, 46, 599 S.E.2d 448, 454 (2004) (finding no issue was preserved for appellate review regarding the trial judge’s refusal to allow a defense witness to testify further where “no proffer was made as to what [the defense witness’s] testimony would have been had he been allowed to continue”).

Demonstrating that fact, the trial judge permitted defense counsel—who confirmed the point he was trying to make through his cross-examination of Mother was “[e]ssentially” that Victim had previously lied—to elicit testimony establishing Victim had, in fact, lied in the past on multiple occasions to Mother *and* had also lied to people at school. Along with that, defense counsel was permitted to further attack the minor victim’s credibility and character in a more general manner by being allowed to elicit testimony establishing Victim had exhibited behavioral issues at school, got in trouble at and was sometimes suspended from school, was disrespectful to Mother, hit other children, and had gone to therapy for his “problems.” Thus, based on the scope of the cross-examination he did allow, the trial judge enabled defense counsel to make the *precise* point he identified as the one he was trying to make and thoroughly demonstrate to the jury that Victim had indeed told lies in the past. See State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 225, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981) (recognizing the scope of cross-examination rests largely within the trial judge’s discretion); cf. Turner, 373 S.C. at 131, 644 S.E.2d at 698 (“Although [Turner] could not elicit testimony about the victim’s specific mental illness and her specific medication, the gist of what [Turner] wished to elicit from her testimony was elicited. Therefore, [Turner] has not shown he was unfairly prejudiced by the limitation.”).

Meanwhile, the fact Victim—a minor child—had told a lie at some point in his lifetime had, at best, minimal probative value. See Vanover v. State, 433 S.C. 31, 41-42, 856 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2021) (“As one noted jurist explained, the fact that a teenage girl has a disordered past and lies a lot (who doesn’t?) does not predict that she will make up stories about having sex. In other words, evidence that a witness has lied in the past has questionable value since very few people, other than the occasional saint, go through life without ever lying.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). And, the specific details of the lie defense counsel was seeking to elicit

through his cross-examination of Mother had even *less* probative value because Victim’s purported lie—which did not in any way involve Appellant—bore no similarities whatsoever to an accusation of sexual abuse against someone else and, instead, involved a totally-unrelated claim that Victim *personally* had done something wrong by allegedly bringing guns to school in a backpack. See id. at 41-42, 856 S.E.2d at 165-166 (“The rationale for excluding prior false accusations that do not have a significant degree of similarity to the charge at issue is that those false claims *lack any meaningful probative value*. . . . For example, the fact that the alleged victim previously took her mother’s car without permission, wrecked the car, and lied about the circumstances before recanting had no probative value with respect to the victim’s allegation that she was raped.” (emphasis added)).

Therefore, by placing reasonable limits on the scope of cross-examination and precluding defense counsel from questioning Mother about an out-of-court statement she had made concerning the specific details of a particular lie Victim had purportedly told in the past, the trial judge appropriately ensured evidence that was of, at best, limited probative value and otherwise inadmissible was not wrongly placed before the jury. More specifically, pursuant to well-established South Carolina law, Victim’s prior act of lying about bringing guns to school in a backpack could *not* have properly been used—as defense sought to do—to suggest Victim had a propensity to tell lies and, thus, must have been acting in conformity with that propensity when he accused Appellant of sexually abusing him. See Rule 404(b), SCRE (“Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.”); cf. State v. Powell, 518 P.3d 949, 957 (Or. Ct. App. 2022) (“[W]ithout a motive, the argument that because [the victim] had previously lied when confronted about school, she must have lied this time is inadmissible character evidence because

it requires propensity reasoning—that is, she lied before, so she must have lied this time.”).

Likewise, testimony from Mother about an out-of-court statement she previously made about an out-of-court statement Victim had purportedly made would have constituted rank hearsay that would not have been admissible under any recognized hearsay exception. See Rule 802, SCRE (“Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.”); see also Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973) (“In the exercise of this right [to present a defense], the accused, as is required of the State, must comply with established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence.”). Furthermore, pursuant to our state’s legitimate evidentiary rules, specific instances of Victim’s conduct could not, for the purpose of attacking his credibility, appropriately be proven through extrinsic evidence like Mother’s testimony and, instead, could—at most—only be inquired into on cross-examination of Victim, which defense counsel never sought to do as far as the purported lie about bringing guns to school was concerned. See Rule 608(b), SCRE (“Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness’ credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning the witness’ character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, or (2) concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which character the witness being cross-examined has testified.”); cf. Vanover, 433 S.C. at 40, 856 S.E.2d at 164 (“[A]lthough there is no question trial counsel could have asked Daughter about the Doe allegation, Rule 608 would not be a vehicle for anyone to offer testimony regarding the allegation.”). Under such circumstances, the limits the trial judge placed

on defense counsel's cross-examination of Mother were proper, permissible, and fully consistent with South Carolina law. See Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986) (recognizing the constitutional guarantee of an opportunity for effective cross-examination does *not* mean a criminal defendant is entitled to cross-examination that is effective in whatever way to whatever extent the defendant might wish); cf. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 34, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000) ("The trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting the scope of cross-examination to comply with the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.").

Accordingly, since the testimony defense counsel was seeking to elicit possessed virtually no legitimate probative value, was not otherwise admissible, and carried a high potential for causing unfair prejudice and confusion, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by excluding that testimony upon validly concluding its meager probative value was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect, and there are no proper grounds warranting a reversal of that sound discretionary ruling on appeal. See State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 383, 396 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1990) ("Although the Confrontation Clause 'tips the scales' in favor of permitting cross-examination if it could reasonably be expected to have an effect on the jury, a court may prohibit cross-examination for impeachment purposes when the probative value of the evidence the defendant seeks to elicit is substantially outweighed by the risk of prejudice."); State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 129, 606 S.E.2d 508, 515 (Ct. App. 2004) ("A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances."). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION